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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd 

ABN 32 137 904 413

Directors' Report
31 December 2018

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements of the Group, being Parnell Pharmaceuticals
Holdings Ltd (the Company) and its controlled entities (The Group), for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

1. General information 

Information on directors  

The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each person who has been a director during the
year and to the date of this report are:

Dr. Alan Bell  Chairman (Appointed Executive Director 9th January 2018)

Brad McCarthy  Executive Director (Appointed CEO 9th January 2018)

Tony G Hartnell AM Independent Director (Appointed 2nd January 2018) 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

We believe that each of our current directors has relevant industry experience. Our Constitution specifies that there
must be a minimum of one director and a maximum of ten, and our Board of Directors may determine the number of
directors within those limits. Our directors serve until removed by us by resolution. 

Our Board of Directors has established delegated limits of authority, which define the matters that are delegated to
management and those that require Board of Directors approval. Our non executive directors do not have any service
contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries providing for benefits upon termination of employment.

Alan Bell.  Dr. Bell has been our Director and Chairman since 2006. From July 1986 until 2006, he was the sole owner
and Managing Director of Parnell Laboratories (Aust) Pty Ltd, our legacy entity.In 1986, Alan purchased Parnell from
the retiring owner Dr Richard Boon. Over the next 20 years Alan worked as an equine veterinarian as well as becoming
a well-known horse breeder, racehorse owner and syndicator and ultimately a championship winning thoroughbred
horse trainer in Sydney. In 2005 Alan decided he wanted to grow Parnell to be a global player in the veterinary market
and ultimately make Parnell an accredited FDA facility which became a reality in 2013. Alan holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Veterinary Science (1979) from University of Queensland completing his initial appointments in mixed practice and
large animal practice in rural New South Wales, then moving to Equine practice.

Brad McCarthy.  Mr. McCarthy joined us as Chief Financial Officer and Director in February 2010, and was appointed
Chief Operating Officer of Parnell Manufacturing Pty Ltd, one of our wholly owned subsidiaries, in 2012 (overseeing the
successful FDA approval of Parnell’s new manufacturing facility). He was appointed CEO of the Group on 9 January
2018. Prior to Parnell, Brad spent six years at SIRVA Inc. in London (largest removals and relocation organisation in the
world) where he worked in various roles as VP of Forecasting and Planning and Analysis (Europe), then leading
SIRVA’s divestment of its European operations, and Chief Financial Officer of the SIRVA subsidiary Pickford’s
Removals. Prior to SIRVA, Brad worked at Volkswagen Group Australia in the finance team. Brad holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Science (majoring in Physiology and Pharmacology) from University of Queensland, as well as a Bachelor of
Business Administration and Commerce at Macquarie University. He is a Certified Public Accountant.
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1. General information 

Information on directors  

Tony G Hartnell AM.  Tony joined Parnell as an Independent Director in January 2018 bringing impeccable credentials
in business success, enterprise financing and good governance, and unique expertise in corporate law and regulation.
Mr. Hartnell brings a wealth of knowledge and experience, having chaired five publicly listed companies including BT
Global Asset Management Ltd, Television & Media Services Ltd and Chiquita Brands South Pacific Ltd. His
distinguished career also includes his service as the Inaugural Chairman of the Australian Securities Commission and
Chairman of the National Companies and Securities Commission.

Mr. Hartnell began his legal career in government, rising rapidly to Deputy Secretary, Department of Business and
Consumer Affairs, and then moved to private practice as a corporate and commercial lawyer as a partner at Allen Allen
& Hemsley and a partner and co-founder of Atanaskovic Hartnell. In that time Mr. Hartnell also served on numerous
governmental advisory bodies in the fields of trade, telecommunications and corporate regulation.

Mr. Hartnell was awarded Member in the Order of Australia (AM), and subsequently the Centenary Medal, in recognition
of his achievements in structuring and chairing the peak bodies for corporate regulation in Australia.

Mr. Hartnell holds a BEc, LLB (Hons) from ANU and LLM (Highest Hons) from George Washington University.

Principal activities and significant changes in nature of activities  

The Group is a fully integrated veterinary pharmaceutical company focused on developing, manufacturing and
commercializing innovative health solutions.  We currently market five products for companion and production animals
in 14 countries and augment our pharmaceutical products with our proprietary mySYNCH® software platform.

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were:
 the manufacture for global sale of animal pharmaceutical product; and
 the research and development of pharmaceutical products for global animal health markets.

Our History

The original Parnell company was founded by a veterinarian (Richard Boon) in Australia in the early 1960’s.  In 1986 he
sold the assets of that business to Dr Alan Bell a practising equine veterinarian. Over the next twenty years, we
developed over 30 generic veterinary products and registered them in over twenty countries. In 2006,our board
implemented a global expansion of our company focusing on developing proprietary drug products and expanding our
presence in the US market. As part of this process, we sold our legacy generic drug product assets to fund the
development of new chemical entities and to fund in part the construction of our current FDA approved sterile
manufacturing facility.  

Over the last decade, we have significantly enhanced our core competencies across the entire pharmaceutical value
chain. Our products have been approved by regulators in the U.S., Europe, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and
multiple other jurisdictions throughout Latin America, Asia, the Middle East and Africa. Our clinical science expertise is
augmented by a strong network of academic institutions, private research organizations and veterinary clinics across
multiple countries around the world.

We have constructed a sterile manufacturing facility located in Sydney, Australia which was FDA inspected in
September 2012 and deemed acceptable in January 2013 and we were successfully inspected by the Australian
Therapeutic Goods Administration under mutual recognition procedures with the European Medicines Agency, or EMA
in April 2015. We believe this facility provides us with a low cost and reliable supply of our products and has
approximately 45% available capacity above our current manufacturing demand, creating significant contract
manufacturing and pipeline expansion opportunities. In 2016 we were awarded our first contract manufacturing
agreement, followed by our second in 2017 which has resulted in this business segment growing 138% in 2018 over
2017 and contributing 39% of our total revenues in this financial year. We intend to leverage our manufacturing facility
to continue to expand this contract manufacturing business segment.
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1. General information 

Principal activities and significant changes in nature of activities  

We have expanded our business operations in the last five years to focus on the U.S. market. This shift in focus has
enabled us to establish a U.S. sales and marketing presence in the production animal market with the launch in 2013 of
our reproductive hormones; Estroplan and Gonabreed and the recent launch of mySYNCH, our digital application for
use by dairy producers and veterinarians. Since 2015, we have also established a small presence in the companion
animal segment with the launch of Glyde for dogs and FETCH, our digital application intended for use by veterinarians
and pet parents.

The address of our Australia office is Unit 4 Century Estate, 476 Gardeners Road, Alexandria, NSW, 2015, Australia
and the telephone number is +612 9667 4411 and in the U.S. it is 7015 College Blvd, Suite 650, Overland Park, Kansas
66211, and the telephone number is +1 9132742100.

Our Business

We are a fully integrated, veterinary pharmaceutical company focused on developing, manufacturing and
commercializing innovative animal health solutions. We currently manufacture and market five products for companion
animals and production animals in 14 countries and augment our production animal pharmaceutical products with
proprietary software platform mySYNCH®. This innovative technology solution is designed to enhance the quality of life
and/or performance of animals and is provided to producers and animal owners who use our drug products as a value
added service offering to differentiate us from our competitors. 

Our reproductive hormone products, estroPLAN® and GONAbreed®, are designed to safely and effectively improve
cattle breeding performance and are currently marketed in 12 countries. We were the first company to achieve FDA
approval for the indication of estrous synchronization in lactating dairy and beef cows. We market our reproductive
hormone products in conjunction with our proprietary software platform, mySYNCH, in order to deliver superior breeding
outcomes. Since launching in the U.S. in mid-2013, we have steadily acquired market share, having sold 11.6 million
doses of Gonabreed and 14.6 million doses of Estroplan in the US during this time.

We believe our production animal products are differentiated through our complementary digital technologies designed
to assist producers and veterinarians in maximizing the performance and application of our products. mySYNCH, for
production animal customers, provides a personalized software solution which provides mobile and interactive
education and diagnostics, data analytics and customer management capabilities. mySYNCH also provide us with
direct interaction with animal owners to manage and personalize their brand experience with our products. Our
technology offering enables us to identify and win potential new customers, increase customer interaction, provide
brand recognition and overall customer satisfaction.

We have constructed a sterile manufacturing facility located in Sydney, Australia which has been inspected by the FDA,
and other regulatory agencies enabling us to manufacture products for sale in the European Union, Australia, New
Zealand, Canada as well as other jurisdictions under mutual recognition procedures. We believe this new facility
provides us with a low cost and reliable supply of our products and has approximately 45% available capacity above our
current manufacturing demand which in turn provides significant contract manufacturing and pipeline expansion
opportunities. In 2016 we signed our first contract manufacturing agreement which is a multimillion dollar opportunity
over seven years and in 2017 we signed our second multimillion dollar agreement. We are also continuing to seek
further contract manufacturing opportunities with various pharmaceutical companies and believe we can sign additional
contract manufacturing agreements in the future thereby establishing our contract manufacturing business segment as
a profitable contributor to our corporate operations.

Our disease modifying product, Zydax®, for the treatment of osteoarthritis, or OA, in dogs and horses, both stimulates
the growth of new cartilage and inhibits cartilage breakdown. OA is a slowly progressive and often severely debilitating
degenerative joint disease, or DJD. The most common treatments for OA are anti-inflammatory drugs, which ease
symptoms but do not address the underlying disease process. By contrast, Zydax is designed to enable veterinarians
and animal owners to safely and effectively address the underlying causes of OA. Zydax and Glyde have been treating
OA in the Australian market for many years, with 1.5 million doses of Zydax sold, and have led to improved quality of life
for dogs and improved performance of sport horses. In addition to Zydax we also have a nutraceutical product, Glyde®,
which is a combination of glycoaminoglycans, a building block for cartilage (derived from chondroitin sulfate and
glucosamine) and a potent natural anti-inflammatory, ecoisatetranoic acid (derived from New Zealand greenlipped
mussels). Glyde is currently marketed in Australia where we also market Zydax. We launched Glyde in the U.S. in
September 2015.
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1. General information 

Principal activities and significant changes in nature of activities  

Our current revenues are derived from operations in 14 countries, with a direct marketing presence in Australia, New
Zealand and the U.S. We utilize a range of multinational and local marketing partners in other markets including the
Middle East and Africa and will continue to seek additional marketing partners who can assist us in bringing our
products to market in those geographies where we do not expect to establish a direct presence such as Europe, Asia
and Latin America. We believe that our fully integrated, pharmaceutical value chain positions us to effectively and
efficiently leverage our current product portfolios, expand and scale our contract manufacturing opportunities and elicit
in licensing opportunities. 

Our Strategy

Our objective is to become a leading provider of animal health solutions that enhance the performance or the quality of
life of animals and enhance operational efficiency and profitability for veterinarians and farmers. We seek to differentiate
ourselves from other animal health companies through leadership in clinical science in our chosen therapeutic areas,
integration of our digital technologies with our animal health products and excellence in the manufacture of highly potent
sterile injectables and extrusion chewable products.

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year 

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated statements of operations should be read along with our
consolidated financial statements and the notes, which reflect the results of operations of the business for the periods
presented. 

Review of the consolidated statements of operations 

(AUD$ in thousands, except percentages)
Year Ended

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017 v%

Revenues 26,548 19,127 39%
Cost of Goods Sold (10,117) (7,348) 38%

Gross Margin 16,431 11,779 39%
Selling and Marketing expenses (5,240) (6,479) (19%)
Regulatory and R&D expenses (586) (939) (38%)
Administration expenses (4,541) (4,828) (6%)

EBITDAOI* 6,064 (188) 3,327%
Non-recurring items (415) (2,545) (84%)
Impairment of intangible assets - (5,537) (100%)
Loss on sale of assets - (279) (100%)
Depreciation and Amortisation expenses (2,379) (2,510) (5%)
Finance costs (6,995) (9,245) (24%)
Other income/(expenses) 4,062 (2,812) 244%

Income/loss before income tax 337 (23,116) 101%
Income tax (expense)/benefit (207) (12) 1,613%

Income/loss for the year 130 (23,128) 101%
Other comprehensive loss for the year, 
net of tax (6,994) 3,914 (279%)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,864) (19,214) (64%)
*EBITDAOI: Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation and Other Income/(Expense)

Review of Operational Results

Total 2018 revenue performance was a significant increase over 2017, being $7.4 million (39%) up on the prior year.
Underlying operations delivered a positive EBITDAOI result of $6.1 million, which was a year on year improvement of
$6.3 million.  
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2. Operating results and review of operations for the year 

Revenue:

Total revenue was $26.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018, being $7.4 million (39%) up over the
same period in 2017.  

Our operating segments performed as follows: 

 Production Animal sales of $13.1 million globally for 2018 represented an increase of $1.5 million (13%) over
the same period in 2017, comprised of; 19% growth in US Production; 32% growth in Australia and 36% in
New Zealand Production; and a 45% decline year on year in Rest of World Production due to variation in
shipment timing for committed orders. The performance in our direct markets (USA, Australia and New
Zealand) was particularly pleasing as it further supports our market positioning and value proposition. The
US, despite having an average of only 7 territories occupied by sales staff across the year, our market share
continued to grow with in Market sales increasing by 9% over the twelve months ended December 31, 2017.
With this strong performance we intend to expand our presence in this market to at least 10 territory
managers in 2019.

 Companion Animal sales of $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 were down slightly, $0.1
million, compared to the same period in 2017, arresting the decline in this segment due to prior year
underperformance in US Companion seen in 2017. This in conjunction with the reduction in cost base of the
US Companion Animal segment has delivered a $1.4 million year on year improvement in contribution
margin from this business for the twelve months of 2018. The Australian Companion Animal business
continues to outgrow the market, posting a further 11% year on year revenue growth in 2018, after recording
12% full year growth in 2017.

 Contract Manufacturing revenues for 2018 were $10.3 million, an increase of 138% over revenues of $4.3
million for the same period in 2017. 2018 comprised technology transfer revenues of $2.6 million, compared
to $3.5 million period in 2017, and batch delivery revenues of $7.7 million, compared to $0.8 million in 2017.
Our manufacturing business increased our sterile injectable product volumes by 254% in 2018 over 2017 in
addition to bringing in-house all manufacturing of our Glyde Chew extrusion products. 

Expenses:

 Cost of Sales for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $10.1 million, compared to $7.3 million for the
comparable period in 2017. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue, using a Cost of Goods Sold - Product
basis, was 86% in 2018 compared to 84% in 2017, due improved manufacturing operations and efficiencies
implemented since late 2017 and increased sales in our US, Australian & New Zealand Production Animal
segments.

 Selling and Marketing expenses decreased by $1.2 million, or 19%, to $5.2 million for the 2018 year
compared to the same period in 2017 resulting primarily from the reduction of our US Companion Animal
field sales and marketing cost base of $1.5 million offset by an increase in US Production Animal sale and
marketing costs of $0.3 million.

 Regulatory and R&D spending for the year was $0.6 million, a 38% reduction over the same period in 2017.
Termination of PAR121 and PAR122 earlier in the year was the major contributor to this reduction.

 Administration expenses decreased $0.3 million, or 6%, to $4.5 million in 2018 compared to $4.8 million for
the same period in 2017 as a result of the management changes and savings initiatives implemented in late
2017.

 Finance costs of $7.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 decreased by $2.3 million
over the same period in 2017, due to the payout of our previous senior debt facility and the transition to our
new facility with Marathon entered into in July 2018.
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2. Operating results and review of operations for the year 

 Other Income/(expense) for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 was income of $4.1 million
compared to an expenses of $2.8 million for the same period in 2017.  This increase is primarily due to
foreign exchange movements between the Australian dollar and the US dollar for the period. For 2018, $0.1
million was recorded in Other Income as part of research and development incentives received in Australia
compared to $0.7 million recorded during the same period in 2017. In addition, in 2017 Other expense
included an impairment of bad debts of $0.6 million and a $0.6 million write off of receivables due to a
customer being placed into administration in the Middle East ($Nil in 2016). There was no impairment of bad
debts in 2018.

 Non-recurring items for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 was an expense of $0.4 million
compared to $2.5 million for the same period in 2018.  In 2018 this item was all related to settlement and legal
costs associated with exemployee claims, which was settled in December 2018. In 2017, these items
comprised; $1.0 million of settlement and legal costs associated with ex-employee claims and $1.5 million in
inventory revaluation charges taken as a result of improved manufacturing efficiencies thereby reducing the
cost of inventory recorded.

 Impairment of Intangible Assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 was $Nil. In 2017 an
impairment of Intangible Assets charge of $5.5 million was incurred to write down the carrying value of the
Zydax Canine project to $Nil.

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortization and Other Income/(Expense) (EBITDAOI) & Net Loss
after Tax:

 Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortization and Other Income/(Expense) for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2018, before non-recurring items, improved by $6.5 million to profitable earnings of $6.1
million compared to a $0.5 million loss for the same period in 2017. Including non-recurring items it was a
$5.7 million profit in 2018 compared to a $3.0 million loss in 2017. This was achieved by total revenue being
39% up on prior year and operational cost reductions of $1.9 million and an improvement in manufacturing
operations delivering an increase in gross margin as a percentage of revenue, using a Cost of Goods Sold -
Product basis, to 86% in 2018 compared to 84% in 2017. 

 Net profit/(loss) after tax for the period ended December 31, 2018 decreased by $23.3 million to record a
profit of $0.1 million compared to a $23.1 million loss in 2017 as a result of the items detailed above.

3. Other items 

Dividends paid or recommended  

Year Ended
December 31, 2018

$

Year Ended
December 31, 2017

$

Dividends - -

There are no dividends paid or recommended during the period (Year Ended December 31, 2017: $Nil). Since the end
of the period the directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend.
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3. Other items 

Events after the reporting date  

Due to a delay in the delivery of previously purchase ordered contract manufacturing business from Quarter 1, 2019 to
Quarter 2, 2019 the Group took out a Shareholder loan of $700,000. In agreement with the Senior Lenders, Marathon,
the loan will be repaid only if and to the extent; 

a) the combined EBITDA of the Group (calculated in accordance with the Senior Loan) under the Senior Loan (and
reported by you to the Lender) for the four quarters immediately preceding the demand is more than AUD 8 million; and

b) the payment if made by the Group will not reduce the amount of cash in the Debt Service Reserve Account (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) to less than USD 2,500,000 at any time; and

c) there is no Event of Default under the Senior Loan at the time of the payment, nor would such an Event of Default
result if that payment were made by the group.

No additional matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or
could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group
in future financial years. 

Future developments and results  

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in future financial
years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Group.

Environmental issues  

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These
laws and regulations govern matters such as: 
 the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or water; 
 the generation, use, storage, handling, treatment, packaging, transportation, exposure to, and disposal of

hazardous and biological materials, including record keeping, reporting and registration requirements; and 
 the health and safety of our employees. 

Energy Efficiency Opportunities Guidelines

The Group is not subject to the conditions imposed by the registration and reporting requirements of the Energy
Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 in the current financial year as its energy consumption was below the 0.5 petajoule
registration threshold.

If the Group exceeds this threshold in future reporting periods, it will be required to register with the Department of
Resources, Energy and Tourism and complete an Energy Savings Action Plan. This plan assesses the energy usage of
the Group and identifies opportunities for the Group to reduce its energy consumption.

The Clean Energy Bill 2012 will have an indirect impact on the Company due to increased costs.

Company secretary  

The following person held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year:

Brad McCarthy (CPA) has been the company secretary since March 2011. 
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Meetings of directors  

During the financial year, five meetings of directors were held. All board meetings were held at The Group’s
headquarter in Alexandria, Australia. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Directors' Meetings

Number eligible
to attend Number attended

Dr Alan Bell 5 5

Tony G Hartnell AM 5 5

Brad McCarthy 5 5

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 

During the year ended 31 December 2018, insurance premiums were paid for directors and officers liability by the
Group of AUD$120,000 (2017: $120,000) to insure the directors and secretaries of the Group and its Australian based
controlled entities. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities
incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from
conduct involving a willful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of
information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Group. It is not possible to
apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other
liabilities.

Options  

The fair value of each share option is estimated on the date of grant using the BlackScholes option pricing model. The
Company historically has been a private company and lacks company specific historical and implied volatility
information. Therefore, it estimates its expected share volatility based on the historical volatility of its publicly traded
peer companies and expects to do so until such time as it has adequate historical data regarding the volatility of its own
traded share price. The risk free interest rate is determined by reference to the appropriate reserve bank yield in effect
at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. The expected
term is determined based on the life of the grant of 10 years. Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the
Company has never paid cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
fair value of the underlying ordinary shares is determined by the closing price of our ordinary shares on the NASDAQ
Global Market. The fair value of the share options was estimated using the following assumptions::

12 months ended December
31, 2018

12 months ended December
31, 2017

Share price at grant date per ordinary share N/A N/A
Risk free interest rate N/A N/A
Expected term (in years) N/A N/A
Expected volatility N/A N/A
Expected dividend yield zero zero
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Options  

If any assumptions used in the option pricing model changed significantly, share based compensation for future awards
may differ materially from the awards granted previously.

The following table summarizes share option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Shares Issuable
Under Options

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 49,931 4.44 1 -
Granted - - - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired or forfeited - - - -
Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2018 49,931 4.44 1 -

Options vested and expected to vest
as of December 31, 2018 49,931 4.44

The following table summarizes share option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017:

Shares Issuable
Under Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2016 1,258,409 4.44 8.7 -
Granted - - - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired or forfeited (1,208,478) 4.44 - -
Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2017 49,931 4.44 1 -

Options vested and expected to vest
as of December 31, 2017 49,931 4.44

The aggregate intrinsic value of share options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the share
options and the fair value of the Company's ordinary shares for those share options that had exercise prices lower than
the fair value of the Company's ordinary shares.

There were no options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Company
did not receive cash proceeds from stock option exercises for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017.
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Options  

In addition to the stock options described above, the Company has granted service based RSU's to its employees.
RSU's are valued at the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares as of the date of the grant.  

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Number of Restricted
Share Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2017 646,021 1.05 0.16 -
Granted - -
Exercised - -
Expired or forfeited (277,642) -
Outstanding as of
December 31, 2018 368,379 -

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2017:

Number of Restricted
Share Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2016 13,386 2.60 1.08 -
Granted 1,337,869 1.05 0.16 -
Exercised (6,692) 2.60 1 -
Expired or forfeited (698,542) 1.05 1 -
Outstanding as of
December 31, 2017 646,021 1.05 0.16 -

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, share-based compensation expense/(recovery) was
($31) thousand and ($217) thousand. 
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 Proceedings on behalf of company  

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 

 Auditor's independence declaration   

The auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year 
ended 31 December 2018 has been received and can be found on page 12 of the financial report. 

This director's report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

Director: ............................................................... 
Brad McCarthy (Chief Executive Officer) 

 

Director: ................................................................ 
Alan Bell (Executive Chairman) 

 

Dated: 28 March 2019 



Katrina Iannella
Typewritten Text
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive loss
 

Note

12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Revenue 3 26,548,015 19,127,432

Other income 3 4,062,163 697,282

Cost of goods sold (11,024,617) (9,747,229)

Selling and marketing expenses (5,240,459) (6,479,348)

Regulatory and research and development expenses (585,506) (939,137)

Administration expenses (6,427,427) (13,020,536)

Finance costs 4 (6,995,130) (9,245,228)

Other expenses - (3,509,512)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 337,039 (23,116,276)
Income tax expense 5 (207,419) (12,111)

Profit/(loss) for the period 129,620 (23,128,387)

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of income tax

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation (6,994,009) 3,913,834

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax (6,994,009) 3,913,834

Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,864,389) (19,214,553)

Net earnings/(loss) per share AUD$ AUD$
Net earnings/(loss) attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted 16(a) 0.01 (1.28)

The Group has initially applied AASB 15 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The

comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118 and related interpretations.

The Group has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 9, the comparative information has been

prepared under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
13



Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Consolidated balance sheet

Note

31 December 2018

AUD$

31 December 2017

AUD$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 4,400,647 2,378,950

Trade and other receivables 9 1,739,466 2,555,341

Inventories 10 3,194,154 2,136,123

Prepayments 444,313 306,352

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 9,778,580 7,376,766

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 9 60,200 65,306

Plant and equipment 11 10,593,307 10,593,383

Intangible assets 12 13,052,325 12,168,714

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 23,705,832 22,827,403

TOTAL ASSETS 33,484,412 30,204,169

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 13 5,974,086 8,150,610

Borrowings 14 9,718 9,990

Provision for employee benefits 15 780,970 577,840

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,764,774 8,738,440

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 13 62,319 480,872

Borrowings 14 45,032,806 32,174,792

Provision for employee benefits 15 152,127 126,924

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 45,247,252 32,782,588

TOTAL LIABILITIES 52,012,026 41,521,028

NET ASSETS/ LIABILITIES (18,527,614) (11,316,859)

EQUITY
Ordinary shares 16 63,515,902 63,521,533

Share-based compensation reserve 17 3,251,515 3,592,250

Reserves 17 (7,022,336) (28,327)

Accumulated losses 18 (78,272,695) (78,402,315)

TOTAL EQUITY (18,527,614) (11,316,859)

The Group has initially applied AASB 15 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The
comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118 and related interpretations.

The Group has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 9, the comparative information has been
prepared under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Ordinary
Shares

AUD$

Retained
Earnings

AUD$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

AUD$

Option/Share
based

compensation
Reserve

AUD$

Total

AUD$

Balance at 1 January 2018 63,521,533 (78,402,315) (28,327) 3,592,250 (11,316,859)

Profit for the period - 129,620 - - 129,620

Other comprehensive loss for the period - - (6,994,009) - (6,994,009)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners

Contribution of equity, net of transaction costs (5,631) - - - (5,631)

Share based payment transactions - - - (340,735) (340,735)

Balance at 31 December 2018 63,515,902 (78,272,695) (7,022,336) 3,251,515 (18,527,614)

Balance at 1 January 2017 63,522,251 (55,273,928) (3,942,161) 3,757,536 8,063,698

Loss for the period - (23,128,387) - - (23,128,387)

Other comprehensive loss for the period - - 3,913,834 - 3,913,834

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners
Buyback or contribution of equity, net of
transaction costs (718) - - - (718)

Shares based payment transactions - - - (165,286) (165,286)

Balance at 31 December 2017 63,521,533 (78,402,315) (28,327) 3,592,250 (11,316,859)

The Group has initially applied AASB 15 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118 and
related interpretations.

The Group has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 9, the comparative information has been prepared under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Note

12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers 26,132,877 22,630,795

Payments to suppliers and employees (23,890,025) (19,905,207)

Interest received 4,375 5,555

Finance costs (3,860,433) (4,569,396)

Income taxes paid (5,589) (11,796)

Net cash used in operating activities 27 (1,618,795) (1,850,049)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,049,248) (515,541)

Purchases of intangible assets (1,706,631) (2,022,415)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,755,879) (2,537,956)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Redemption of 2013 Convertible Bonds (2,556,308) -

Proceeds from bank loans 43,062,845 2,550,000

Repayment of bank loans (32,631,156) (2,550,000)

Payment of borrowings cost (1,694,966) -

Payment of lease liabilities (24,018) (23,412)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 6,156,397 (23,412)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 1,781,723 (4,411,417)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,378,950 7,115,498

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 239,974 (325,131)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 8 4,400,647 2,378,950

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

1 Nature of the Business 

This financial report covers the consolidated financial statements and notes of Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings
Limited (the 'Company') and controlled entities (the 'Group'). The Company is limited by shares and domiciled in
Australia, with its shares publicly traded on the OTC Pink® Open Market under the ticker symbol ‘PARN’ and is a for-
profit group.

The Group is a fully integrated veterinary pharmaceutical company focused on developing, manufacturing and
commercializing innovative health solutions.  We currently market five products for companion and production animals
in 14 countries and augment our pharmaceutical products with our proprietary software platforms.

The principal activities of the Group during the financial period were:
 the manufacture for global sale of animal pharmaceutical product; and
 the research and development of pharmaceutical products for global animal health markets.

The Group is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. There can be
no assurance that the Group's research and development will be successfully completed, that adequate protection for
the Group's technology will be obtained, that any products developed will obtain necessary government regulatory
approval or that any approved products will be commercially viable. The Group operates in an environment of
substantial competition from other animal health companies. In addition, the Group is dependent upon the services of
its employees and consultants, as well as third-party contract research organizations and manufacturers.

Each of the entities within the Group prepare their financial statements based on the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (functional currency).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.

This financial report covers the consolidated financial statements of the Group and were authorised for issue by the
directors on March 28, 2019. 

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

These financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(b) Going Concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of going concern which contemplates continuity of
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group experienced a profit from continuing operations of AUD
$129,620 (2017: AUD loss ($23,128,387) and operating cash outflows of AUD ($1,618,795) (2017: AUD outflow
of ($1,850,049)) for the year then ended. The previous year losses were largely driven by structural changes in
the US business, impairment of some intangibles and higher finance costs. 

The Group has focused on setting the business for future profitability and growth with this seen in the underlying
EBITDAOI (excluding one-offs) for 2018 being AUD $6,063,803 (2017: AUD ($187,926)). When you include one-
off items the EBITDAOI was AUD $5,648,894 (2017: AUD ($8,549,235)). The Group expects to continue to see
EBITDAOI increase in FY19 and be in the range of $7-8 million.

The Group also at 31 December 2018 has a net liability position of AUD $(18,527,614) (2017: AUD $11,316,859)
and net working capital of AUD $3,013,806 (2017: AUD $(1,361,674)). 

During 2018 the Group refinanced the SWK Holdings LL ("SWK") loan facility (USD$20,000,000) with a new
USD$32,000,000 term loan from Marathon Healthcare Finance Fund, L.P. and Wilmington Trust, National
Association (as the Agent) ("Marathon"). At December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with these
covenants and expects to remain in compliance with these for 12 months from the date of signing of the financial
statements. 

The Group also entered into a commercial agreement with a third party which provides milestone payments upon
achievement of certain activities, which the Group have forecasted will be achieved prior to December 31, 2019.
If not achieved this would result in a delay in the receipt of these funds into future periods.

Furthermore, the Group is currently working on a number of requests for proposals for potential new contract
manufacturing agreements and is required to be successful in at least one of these or to achieve the activities
related to the abovementioned milestone payments in order to achieve the forecasted EBITDAOI range for 2019.

The continuing viability of the Group and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and
commitments as and when they fall due requires that it meets or exceeds operational budgets in the future,
delivers on its existing and new contract manufacturing agreements and continues to have the support from its
lenders/or find alternative financing. The Directors and management believe that the Group will be successful in
the above matters and, accordingly, have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis.

The Directors and management have a responsibility to prepare the financial statements in accordance with
accounting standards, which requires entities to prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless
the directors intend to liquidate the entity, cease trading or have no realistic alternative but to do so. No
adjustments have been made to the financial statements relating to the recoverability and classification of the
asset carrying amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a
going concern.

(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

Key estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are:
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

Estimated impairment of long life assets  

The Group review intangible assets and property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever external or
internal factors indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Factors considered
in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant declines in market value, negative outlooks
on the industry or economy, obsolescence or damage to the assets, significant underperformance of the
business compared to expectations and changes in the use of the assets. If an impairment analysis is performed
to evaluate a long-lived asset for recoverability, management compares forecasts of cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the long-lived asset to its carrying value. If the expected cash
flows are less than the carrying amount an impairment charge would be recognised. 

For 2017 management determined it was appropriate to take an impairment on certain specific long term
intangible assets.  These impairments qwew on products that the Group is not currently selling and do not have
an immediate intention to bringing to market.  The following products were fully impaired in 2017; Zydax Canine
($5.264m), Zydax Equine ($.095m), Zydax Feline ($.160m), and Other ($.017m).

Income taxes  

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax losses as at December 31,
2018. However, utilization of the tax losses going forward will depend on the ability of the entity, to satisfy certain
tests at the time the losses are recouped.

Government grant revenue  

The Group recognised a deferred tax asset at December 31, 2018 of $723,782, due to the Group exceeding the
$20 million revenue threshold in the year in order to receive the incentive as a cash receipt. Above the $20
million revenue threshold the incentive is received as a future tax credit. As such, the Group did not recognised a
government grant revenue receivable at in 2018 (December 31, 2017: $1,597,891) but recognised this as a
deferred tax asset. Management estimates that the costs applied are consistent with the requirements of the
R&D incentive scheme.

Key judgements 

The key judgment relating to the Group is the recognition criteria for the capitalization of intangible assets which
accounting treatment of these assets has been documented in Note 2(p).

(d) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial position and performance of controlled entities from
the date on which control is obtained until the date that control is lost. 

Intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cashflows relating to transactions between entities in
the consolidated entity have been eliminated in full for the purpose of these financial statements.
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Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(d) Principles of Consolidation 

Appropriate adjustments have been made to a controlled entity’s financial position, performance and cash flows
where the accounting policies used by that entity were different from those adopted by the consolidated entity.  

All controlled entities have a December financial year end.

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 24 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the parent has control.  Control is
established when the parent is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity.

(e) Operating segments 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The executive directors are the chief operating decision maker, responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

(f) Income Tax 

The tax expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive loss relates to
current income tax expense plus deferred tax expense (being the movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities
and unused tax losses during the year).

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (tax loss) for the
year and is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences which are determined by comparing the carrying amounts of
tax bases of assets and liabilities to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  

Deferred tax is not provided for the following:
 The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the

time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
 Temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to

the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. 
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ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(f) Income Tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legal right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period
except where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in
which case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income/(loss) or equity respectively.

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed a tax-consolidated group under
the legislation and as a consequence these entities are taxed as a single entity.

(g) Leases 

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but
not the legal ownership that are transferred to entities in the Group, are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalized by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed
residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest
expense for the period.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortized on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease term.

(h) Revenue and other income 

For comparative year

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue
as noted below, has been satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of
returns, discounts and rebates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(h) Revenue and other income 

Sale of goods  

Revenue is recognised on local sales on delivery of goods to the customer as this is deemed to be the point in
time when risks and rewards are transferred and there is no longer any ownership or effective control over the
goods. Revenue is recognised on international sales when the goods are available for collection by the
customer, and a firm purchase commitment is received. This is the point in time when risks and rewards are
transferred and there is no longer any ownership or effective control over the goods.

Government grant revenue/Government tax credit  

Government grants, including Australian Research and Development incentives, are recognised at fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants
relating to expense items are recognized as income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the costs
they are compensating. Government grants were available to the Group through year end 2017.  Beginning in
2018 the Group reached a revenue threshold that precludes it from receiving these government grants.  Instead,
the Group qualifies for a tax credit for the same amount to be used to reduce taxes payable in future periods.
These tax credits are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the tax credit will be
received, and all necessary conditions are met.  Tax credits relating to expense items are recognised as a
deferred tax asset.  

Interest revenue  

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Revenue from contracts with customers  

For current year

The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services.  Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows:
1. Identify the contract with the customer
2. Identify the performance obligations
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
5. Recognise revenue as and when control of the performance obligations is transferred

22



Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(h) Revenue and other income 

Specific revenue streams  

The revenue recognition policies as described above are applied to the principal revenue streams of the Group,
which are:

- Sale of Goods

- Services Revenue

(i) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), which is
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis which is recoverable from,
or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Bank overdrafts also form part of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows and are presented within current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

(k) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

(l) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost of inventory is determined using the
weighted average cost basis and are net of any rebates and discounts received.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.  Net realisable value is estimated using the most reliable
evidence available at the reporting date and inventory is written down through an obsolescence provision if
necessary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(m) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Classes of property, plant and equipment are measured using the cost model as specified below.

Under the cost model the asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Costs include purchase price, other directly attributable costs and the initial estimate of the costs of
dismantling and restoring the asset, where applicable. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance of assets are
charged to expense as incurred.

Expenditures of repairs and maintenance of assets are charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation  

The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line method from the
date that management determine that the asset is available for use.

Assets held under a finance lease and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the term of
the lease and the assets useful life.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:

Fixed asset class Depreciation rate

Plant and Equipment 5% - 33%

Leased plant and equipment 20% - 30%

Office Equipment 10% - 50%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset
is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater that its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within Other Income and Other Expenses.

Capital works in progress of AUD$913,306 relates to enhancements to the manufacturing facility (December 31,
2017: $911,536).

(n) Financial instruments 

For comparative year

Derivative instruments  

Derivative instruments, including warrants, are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive loss unless they are
designated as hedges.

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(n) Financial instruments 

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are divided into the following categories which are described in detail below:
 loans and receivables; and
 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines
the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.

After initial recognition these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

Receivables are considered for impairment on an individual asset basis when they are past due at the reporting
date or when objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the
future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable.

For trade receivables, impairment provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When confirmation has been received that the amount is not collectable, the gross
carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated impairment provision.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

In some circumstances, the Group renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes in
the timing of the payments, the Group does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however
assessment is made on a case-by-case basis.
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(n) Financial instruments 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the
instrument. All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported
in profit or loss are included in the income statement line items 'finance costs' or 'finance income', unless these
interest related charges relate to a qualifying asset in which case they are capitalised to that asset.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial
liabilities at amortized cost depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired. Although the Group
uses derivative financial instruments in economic hedges of currency and interest rate risk, it does not hedge
account for these transactions.

The Group‘s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables (including finance lease liabilities),
which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

All of the Group‘s derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments are accounted
for at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets  

For current year

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification 

On initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories, those measured at:
 amortised cost
 fair value through profit or loss - FVTPL
 fair value through other comprehensive income - equity instrument (FVOCI - equity)
 fair value through other comprehensive income - debt investments (FVOCI - debt)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets.

Amortised cost

Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where:
 the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet.

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less provision for impairment.
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(n) Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  Gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Equity instruments

The Group has a number of strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities over which are they do not have
significant influence nor control.  The Group has made an irrevocable election to classify these equity
investments as fair value through other comprehensive income as they are not held for trading purposes.

These investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
(financial asset reserve).  On disposal any balance in the financial asset reserve is transferred to retained
earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment.  Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI.

Financial assets through profit or loss 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income as described above are measured at FVTPL.

Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income are recognised in profit or loss (refer to hedging
accounting policy for derivatives designated as hedging instruments.)

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the host contract is
not a financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Impairment of financial assets 

Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following assets:
 financial assets measured at amortised cost
 debt investments measured at FVOCI

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial assets has increased significant since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis
based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward looking
information.

The Group uses the presumption that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant
increase in credit risk.
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(n) Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

The Group uses the presumption that a financial asset is in default when:
 the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse to the Group to

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
 the financial assets is more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows expected to be received.  This is applied using a probability
weighted approach.

Trade receivables and contract assets 

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets have been determined using the simplified approach in
AASB 9 which uses an estimation of lifetime expected credit losses.  The Group has determined the probability
of non-payment of the receivable and contract asset and multiplied this by the amount of the expected loss
arising from default.

The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised in
finance expense.  Once the receivable is determined to be uncollectable then the gross carrying amount is
written off against the associated allowance.

Where the Group renegotiates the terms of trade receivables due from certain customers, the new expected
cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value
is recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Impairment of other financial assets measured at amortised cost are determined using the expected credit loss
model in AASB 9.  On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12
months is recognised.  Where the asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime
losses are estimated and recognised.

Financial liabilities  

The Group classifies financial liabilities into either:
 liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
 other financial liabilities.

Liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise of derivative financial instruments and changes
in fair value are recorded in profit or loss at each reporting period.

Other financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Other financial liabilities comprise trade
payables, bank and other loans and finance lease liabilities.
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(o) Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether there is evidence of an impairment indicator
for non-financial assets. Where there is evidence of such an impairment indicator, the recoverable amount of the
assets is estimated.

Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit (CGU) is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use.  Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-
generating unit.

Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income immediately.

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss,
except for goodwill.
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(p) Intangible Assets 

Research and development  

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of enhancements or extensions of products) are recognised as intangible
assets when all of the below criteria exist:

 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits can be demonstrated;
 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to

use or sell the intangible asset; and
 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The Group considers the criteria met for recognizing an intangible asset, usually when a regulatory filing has
been made in a major market and approval is considered probable.

The expenditure capitalized comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditures that do not meet these
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
which is estimated at 10 years.

IT development and software  

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to
software and systems. Costs capitalized include external direct costs of materials and service and direct payroll
and payroll related costs of employees' time spent on the project. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line
basis over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years

IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only
recognised following completion of technical feasibility and where the group has an intention and ability to use
the asset.

(q) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the
reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

(r) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
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(r) Provisions 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the outflow required to settle
the obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the unwinding of the discount is taken to finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and comprehensive loss.

(s) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for annual leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end
of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits as a current liability.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 

The liabilities for long service leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service. They are therefore recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting
period of corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the
actual settlement is expected to occur.

(iii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the Company's shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group
recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

(t) Borrowings 

Secured and unsecured loans have been obtained. Loans that are repayable within 12 months are presented as
current liabilities.

The fair value of the liability portion of the convertible notes are determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the notes. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
conversion option/warrants. This is recognised separately as a derivative on the balance sheet.
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(t) Borrowings 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit and loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(u) Capitalised borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(v) Finance costs 

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction or development of any qualifying asset are capitalized during the
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed.

(w) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax
from the proceeds.

(x) Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting
period.

(y) Net earnings/(loss) per share 

(i) Basic net earnings/(loss) per share
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing:
 the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than

ordinary shares 
 by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

(ii) Diluted net earnings/loss per share
Diluted net loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:
 the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary

shares, and
 the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming

the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(y) Net earnings/(loss) per share 

For periods in which the Company has reported net earnings/losses, diluted net income/loss per share
attributable to common shareholders is the same as basic net earnings/loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, since their impact would be anti-dilutive to the calculation of net earnings/loss per share.  Diluted
net income/loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net earnings/loss per share
attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
respectively.

(z) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

Functional and presentation currency  

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars which is the parent entity's functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances  

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the spot rate on the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

 Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
 Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the

date of the transaction; and
 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are translated using the rate at the date when fair

value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition or in prior reporting periods are
recognised through profit or loss, except where they relate to an item of other comprehensive income or whether
they are deferred in equity as qualifying hedges.

Group companies  

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group's
presentation currency are translated as follows:

 assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;
 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period where the average rate

approximates the rate at the date of the transaction; and
 retained earnings are translated using the historical method.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group's foreign
currency translation reserve in the consolidated balance sheet. These differences are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which the operation is disposed.
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(aa) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their reporting period
commencing 1 January 2018:
 AASB 9 Financial Instruments
 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification and Measurement of 

Share-based Payment Transactions
 AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transfers to Investment 

Property, Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle and Other Amendments
 Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The impacts of these new standards are disclosed in note 21.
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(ab) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for December 31,
2018 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these
new standards and interpretations is set out below.

Title of Standard Nature of change Impact Mandatory application
date/ Date of adoption
by Group

AASB 16
Leases

The AASB has issued a
new standard for leases.
This will replace AASB
117.
 
The main impact on
lessees is that almost all
leases go on balance
sheet. This is because
the balance sheet
distinction between
operating and finance
leases is removed for
lessees. Instead, under
the new standard an
asset (the right to use
the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised.
The only exemptions are
short-term and low-value
leases.

Management has assessed the
impact of the new rules and believes
the adoption of the provisions of this
update will have a material impact
on The Group's consolidated
financial statements.
 
The Standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group's operating
leases.  As of the reporting date, the
Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of
$8,253,411 (see note 19).  

Due to the change in definition of
the lease term and the different
treatment of variable lease
payments and extension and
termination options, the amount of
right of use assets and lease
liabilities that will have to be
recognised on adoption of the new
standard are $4,792,764. This may
affect the Group's profit or loss and
classification of cash flows going
forward.

Mandatory for financial
years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019.
Expected date of
adoption by the Group: 1
January 2019. 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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12 months to
31 December

2018

AUD$

12 months to
31 December

2017

AUD$

Sales revenue
Sale of goods 23,950,321 15,576,799

Services revenue 2,597,694 3,550,633

26,548,015 19,127,432

Other Income
Government grants (a) 149,345 668,908

Foreign exchange gain 3,918,855 -

Interest received 4,375 5,555

Other income (10,412) 22,819

4,062,163 697,282

(a) Government grants  

International and domestic government grants/tax incentives recognised during the year totalled $149,345 (12
months ended December 31, 2017: $668,908) and recognised as other income. Included in other receivables
are government grants for tax incentives totalling $Nil (December 31, 2017: $1,597,891) for 2018 as the tax
incentive is recognised as a tax credit in the form of a deferred tax asset. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these grants.

4 Expenses 

(a) Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:  

Note

12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Interest expense 6,357,317 9,136,439

Borrowing costs 806,819 397,480

Amounts capitalised (b) (169,006) (288,691)

Finance costs expensed 6,995,130 9,245,228

Depreciation 1,043,461 1,097,582

Impairment of intangibles - 5,537,704

Amortisation 1,335,427 1,411,999

Employee benefits expense 9,203,642 8,240,064

Rental expense relating to operating leases 632,098 1,331,292

Defined contribution superannuation expense 418,320 312,595

Impairment/(recovery) of bad debts 5,446 606,763

Net foreign exchange (loss) in other income,
loss in administration expenses (4,635,630) 2,405,828
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4 Expenses 

(b) Capitalized borrowing costs  

The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalized is the weighted
average interest rate applicable to the entity's outstanding borrowings during the year ended December 31,
2018, in this case 13.25% (year ended December 31, 2017: 13%).

5 Income Tax Expense 

(a) The major components of tax expense comprise:
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Income tax expense 207,419 12,111

Income tax expense 207,419 12,111

(b) Reconciliation of income tax to accounting profit:
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Loss before income tax 337,039 (23,128,388)

At 30% tax rate 101,112 (6,938,516)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable)
in calculating taxable income:
- Non-assessable research and development income (44,570) (205,268)

- Non-deductible research and development
expenditure - 898,784

- Amount of share issues costs not able to be
recognised - -

- Difference in overseas tax rates 162,725 515,699

- Tax losses unrecognised during the year 393,489 2,439,476

- Tax losses incurred but not recognised during the year (405,337) 3,301,936

Income tax expense 207,419 12,111
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12 months to
31 December

2018

AUD$

12 months to
31 December

2017

AUD$

Unrecorded tax losses
Potential tax benefit @ 30% for unused tax losses for which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised - available for use in Australia 14,873,145 14,801,386

Potential tax benefit @ 35% for unused tax losses for which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised - available for use in USA 11,270,141 10,131,066

26,143,286 24,932,452

Total tax losses
Potential tax benefit @ 30% for total Australian tax losses carried
forward 14,873,145 14,801,386

Potential tax benefit @ 35% for total USA tax losses carried forward 11,270,141 10,131,066

26,143,286 24,932,452

Total unused tax losses 81,777,552 78,283,854

The tax losses available for future use in U.S. will expire starting in 2033. The tax losses available for future use in
Australia do not expire but are subject to satisfying certain conditions (e.g. same business and continuity of ownership).

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the reporting period are not recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive
income/(loss) but are directly credited to equity.
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Opening
Balance

AUD$

Charged to
Income

AUD$

Charged
directly to

Equity

AUD$

Exchange
Differences

AUD$

Closing
Balance

AUD$

Deferred tax assets
Accruals 150,512 - - - 150,512

Lease liabilities 425,728 - - - 425,728

Borrowing cost asset 1,151,094 (1,151,094) - - -

Other (258,083) (126,791) - - (384,874)

Balance at 31 December 2017 1,469,251 (1,277,885) - - 191,366

Accruals 150,512 141,353 - - 291,865

Lease liabilities 425,728 (124,860) - - 300,868

Intangible assets - 416,114 - - 416,114

Research & development  - 723,782 - - 723,782

Property, plant and equipment - 42,507 - - 42,507

Other (384,874) 384,874 - - -

Balance at 31 December 2018 191,366 1,583,770 - - 1,775,136

Opening
Balance

AUD$

Charged to
Income

AUD$

Charged
directly to

Equity

AUD$

Exchange
Differences

AUD$

Closing
Balance

AUD$

Deferred tax liability

Intangible assets 1,150,857 (1,150,857) - - -

Transaction costs on equity issue 278,032 (86,666) - - 191,366

Unrealized foreign exchange 40,362 (40,362) - - -

Balance at 31 December 2017 1,469,251 (1,277,885) - - 191,366

Unrealised foreign exchange - 1,196,245 - - 1,196,245

Borrowing cost asset 191,366 387,525 - - 578,891

Balance at 31 December 2018 191,366 1,583,770 - - 1,775,136

During 2018, management evaluated the evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets, which
primarily consist of net loss carry forwards. Management considered the facts that the Group has historically not been
able to generate income, considered the future forecasts and investment costs of pipeline products, the incurred with
the development of an FDA approved manufacturing facility, and the costs completing an initial public offering and other
tax planning strategies. Based on the analysis management determined that the Group will not utilize the tax benefit of
$32,209,134 as of December 31, 2018 ($24,932,451 as of December 31, 2017) and accordingly did not record these
amounts as a deferred tax asset at December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017. This element of unrecognised future tax
benefits will be assessed by management going forward and maybe recorded at a point in which management believes
they will be utilised.
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Description of segments

The animal health pharmaceutical industry is characterized by meaningful differences in customer needs across
different animal species and regions. In addition, our FDA approved sterile manufacturing facility has different
operational characteristics.  As a result of these differences, among other things, we manage our operations through
four separate reportable segments.

Companion Animal

This segment covers the Groups Osteoarthritis portfolios across both Canine and Equine species. It is responsible for
sales of our patented product Zydax, along with the complementary product Glyde across Australia, New Zealand, the
Middle East and Asia.

Production Animal - U.S.

This segment covers the Groups Reproductive Hormone portfolio across Production Animal in the United States of
America. It is responsible for the sales of the first reproductive hormone products approved for the indication of estrous
synchronization in both dairy and beef cows in the U.S. 

Production Animal - Rest of World

This segment covers the Group's Reproductive Hormone portfolio in Production Animal across all regions outside of the
United States of America. It is responsible for the sales of these reproductive hormone products in Australia, New
Zealand, the Middle East, Asia and Canada.

Manufacturing Operations 

This segment is responsible for the operation of the Group's FDA approved sterile manufacturing facility, the
manufacture and release of all of the Groups pharmaceutical products and performing contract manufacturing. The
Manufacturing operations are also responsible for increasing factory utilization via exploring future contract
manufacturing opportunities.  

Review of information by the CODM's

The Executive Directors (which includes the CEO and Chairman), who are the Group's chief operating decision maker's
("CODM's"), use the revenues and the segment results, being Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation,
Amortization and Other Income (Adjusted EBITDAOI) of the four segments, among other factors, for performance
evaluation of the individual segments and the overall Group, and the allocation of resources.

The CODM's believe that Adjusted EBITDAOI represents the results of our underlying operating segments prior to
considering certain income statement elements and other certain significant items, which are not directly associated
with the activities of the operating segment.

The basis of calculating Adjusted EBITDAOI is by the removal of certain significant items and also additional items that
are substantive and non-operating in nature. The items that are always removed are:

 net foreign exchange losses/(gains) associated with the translation of foreign currency denominated
indebtedness over time, which is considered to be a direct result of financing activities that is dependent upon
fluctuations in foreign currency rates

 other income which typically include; income from the sale of assets or research and grant income received
 Certain transactions and events where expenses are incurred that are associated with capital structure of the

Group or certain significant purchase accounting items that result from business combinations and/or asset
acquisitions and divestments.
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Other Costs and Business Activities 

Certain costs are not allocated to our reporting segment results, such as costs associated with the following:

 Corporate overheads, which is responsible for centralized functions such as information technology, facilities,
legal, finance, human resources, business development, and procurement. These costs also include
compensation costs and other miscellaneous operating expenses not charged to our operating segments, as
well as interest and tax income and expense.

These costs are included within 'unallocated' in our segment performance.

Other Assets and Liabilities

We manage our assets and liabilities on a Group basis, not by segment. CODM does not regularly review any asset or
liability information by segment and its preparation is impracticable. Accordingly, we do not report asset and liability
information by segment.
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(a) Segment performance  

Companion
Animal

AUD$

Production
Animal - U.S.

AUD$

Production
Animal - Rest

of World

AUD$

Manufacturing
Operations

AUD$

Unallocated

AUD$

Total

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2018

Revenues
Products 3,164,565 10,948,222 2,103,915 10,331,313 - 26,548,015

Total Revenues 3,164,565 10,948,222 2,103,915 10,331,313 - 26,548,015

Cost of Sales
Products (836,527) (1,370,283) (472,572) (1,472,417) - (4,151,799)

Facility costs - - - (5,965,411) - (5,965,411)

Total Costs of Sales (836,527) (1,370,283) (472,572) (7,437,828) - (10,117,210)

Gross Margin 2,328,038 9,577,939 1,631,343 2,893,485 - 16,430,805
Segment Costs (1,769,407) (2,792,931) (677,742) - - (5,240,080)

Adjusted EBITDAOI 558,631 6,785,008 953,601 2,893,485 (5,126,922) 6,063,803
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7 Segment Information 

(a) Segment performance  

Companion
Animal

AUD$

Production
Animal - U.S.

AUD$

Production
Animal - Rest

of World

AUD$

Manufacturing
Operations

AUD$

Unallocated

AUD$

Total

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

Revenues
Products 3,276,034 9,175,968 2,333,571 4,341,859 - 19,127,432

Total revenues 3,276,034 9,175,968 2,333,571 4,341,859 - 19,127,432

Cost of sales
Products (913,687) (1,581,175) (557,610) (202,082) - (3,254,554)

Facility costs - - - (4,093,422) - (4,093,422)

Total Cost of Sales (913,687) (1,581,175) (557,610) (4,295,504) - (7,347,976)

Gross Margin 2,362,347 7,594,793 1,775,961 46,355 - 11,779,456
Segment Costs (3,098,547) (2,187,151) (1,193,365) - - (6,479,063)

Adjusted EBITDAOI (736,200) 5,407,642 582,596 46,355 (5,488,319) (187,926)
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7 Segment Information 

(b) Reconciliations  

Cost of sales reconciliation 
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Total segment cost of sales (10,117,210) (7,347,976)

Depreciation and amortization expense (907,406) (845,233)

Non-recurring items - (1,554,020)

Total cost of sales (11,024,616) (9,747,229)

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDAOI result to loss before income tax 
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Adjusted EBITDAOI 6,063,803 (187,926)

Non-recurring items (414,909) (2,544,765)

Other income/(expense) - net 4,062,164 (2,812,233)

Depreciation (1,043,461) (1,097,582)

Impairment - (5,537,704)

Amortization (1,335,427) (1,411,999)

Finance costs (6,995,130) (9,245,228)

Loss on sale of assets - (278,839)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 337,040 (23,116,276)

The total segment costs and unallocated expenses reconcile to selling and marketing expenses, regulatory
expenses and administration expenses on the statement of comprehensive loss less depreciation and amortization.
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7 Segment Information 

(b) Reconciliations  

A reconciliation of segment and unallocated costs to operating costs provided as follows:

 
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Segment and unallocated costs (10,781,911) (12,958,127)

Impairment - (5,537,704)

Depreciation and amortization expense (1,471,481) (1,664,348)

Other expense - (278,842)

Operating costs as presented in the statement of
comprehensive profit or loss (12,253,392) (20,439,021)

Selling and marketing expenses (5,240,459) (6,479,348)

Regulatory expenses (585,506) (939,137)

Administration expenses (6,427,427) (13,020,536)

Operating costs as presented in statement of comprehensive
profit or loss (12,253,392) (20,439,021)
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7 Segment Information 

(c) Geographical information  

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical
location of customers whereas segment assets are based on the location of the assets.

The Group is domiciled in Australia, with the amount of its revenue from external customers for the year ended
December 31, 2018 in Australia totalling $3,144,347 (year ended December 31, 2017: $2,692,372) revenues
from external customers in the USA totalling $22,293,777 (year ended December 31, 2017: $14,854,140),
revenues from external customers in New Zealand totalling $411,377 (year ended December 31, 2017:
$302,084) and the total revenues from external customers in other countries totalling $698,514 (year ended
December 31, 2017: $1,280,112). Segment revenues are based on the country in which the customer is based.

No of
customers

31 December
2018

No of
customers

31 December
2017

Total
revenues

31 December
2018

AUD$

Total
revenues

31 December
2017

AUD$

Major customers
Production Animal - US 2 2 10,138,204 10,428,173

Production Animal - Rest of World - - - -

Manufacturing Operations 1 1 10,331,312 4,343,842

8 Cash and cash equivalents 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Cash on hand 1,103 1,065

Cash at bank 4,399,544 2,377,885

4,400,647 2,378,950

(a) Risk exposure  

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 20. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above.
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9 Trade and other receivables 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT
Trade receivables 1,686,842 958,666

Provision for impairment (b) (8,486) (2,394)

Other receivables 61,110 1,599,069

1,739,466 2,555,341

Current other receivables relate primarily to Australian Tax Office R&D Incentives receivable, recorded as per the terms
of the R&D Incentive Scheme.

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

NON-CURRENT
Other receivables 60,200 65,306

Total non-current 60,200 65,306

Non-current other receivables relate to deposits paid by the Group in the ordinary course of business.

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss  

During the year, the following losses recognised in profit or loss in relation to impaired receivables.

Year ended 31
December 2018

AUD$

Year ended 31
December 2017

AUD$

Bad debts written off/(recovered) 5,446 606,763
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9 Trade and other receivables 

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of
counterparties. The class of assets described as 'trade and other receivables' is considered to be the main source of
credit risk related to the Group.

On a geographical basis, the Group has significant credit risk exposures in Australia, New Zealand, Canada and United
States of America given the substantial operations in those regions. The Group's exposure to credit risk for receivables
at the end of the reporting period in those regions is as follows:

31 December 2018

AUD$

31 December 2017

AUD$

Australia 386,640 223,943

United States of America 1,205,329 733,367

1,591,969 957,310

The following table details the Group's trade and other receivables exposure to credit risk (prior to collateral and other
credit enhancements) with aging analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as 'past due'
when the debt has not been settled, within the terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or
counter party to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of
the debtors and are provided for where there is objective evidence indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the
Group.

The balances of receivables that do not remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to be of
high credit quality.

Past due but not impaired

(days overdue)

< 30

AUD$

31-60

AUD$

61-90

AUD$

> 90

AUD$

31 December 2018
Trade and term receivables 268,160 17,404 11,599 51,230

31 December 2017
Trade and term receivables 141,555 61,056 7,126 -

The Group does not hold any financial assets with terms that have been renegotiated, but which would otherwise be
past due or impaired.

The other classes of receivables do not contain impaired assets.
The carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivable in the
financial statements.

48



Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

9 Trade and other receivables 

(b) Impairment of receivables  

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.  To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2018 is determined as follows, the expected credit losses
incorporate forward looking information.

31 December 2018 Current
< 30 days
overdue

< 90 days
overdue

> 90 days
overdue Total

Expected loss rate (%) - - - - -

Gross carrying amount ($) - - - - -

ECL provision - - - - -

10 Inventories 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT
Raw materials and consumables 1,647,374 1,143,279

Work in progress 683,253 327,541

Finished goods 863,527 665,303

3,194,154 2,136,123

Write downs of inventories to net realizable value during the year were $ Nil (year ended December 31, 2017: $Nil).
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11 Plant and equipment 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Capital works in progress
At cost 913,306 911,536

Plant and equipment
At cost 15,928,175 14,911,850

Accumulated depreciation (6,384,715) (5,364,946)

Total plant and equipment 9,543,460 9,546,904

Leased plant and equipment
Capitalised leased assets 325,801 325,801

Accumulated depreciation (325,801) (325,801)

Total leased plant and equipment - -

Motor vehicles
At cost - 21,086

Accumulated depreciation - (21,086)

Total motor vehicles - -

Office equipment
At cost 904,842 818,047

Accumulated depreciation (768,301) (683,104)

Total office equipment 136,541 134,943

Total plant and equipment 10,593,307 10,593,383
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11 Plant and equipment 

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of plant and equipment  

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year:

Consolidated

Capital
Works in
Progress

AUD$

Plant and
Equipment

AUD$

Office
Equipment

AUD$

Total

AUD$

Year ended 31 December 2018
Balance at the beginning of year 911,536 9,546,904 134,943 10,593,383

Additions 930,068 - 12,457 942,525

Transfers (934,243) 923,189 11,054 -

Foreign exchange movements 5,945 31,631 63,284 100,860

Depreciation expense - (958,264) (85,197) (1,043,461)

Balance at the end of the year 913,306 9,543,460 136,541 10,593,307

Consolidated

Capital
Works in
Progress

AUD$

Plant and
Equipment

AUD$

Office
Equipment

AUD$

Total

AUD$

Year ended 31 December 2017
Balance at the beginning of year 709,483 10,923,165 495,744 12,128,392

Additions 452,044 47,073 13,359 512,476

Transfers (173,856) 173,856 - -

Disposals - (582,266) (188,096) (770,362)

Foreign exchange movements (76,135) (69,357) (34,048) (179,540)

Depreciation expense - (945,567) (152,016) (1,097,583)

Balance at the end of the year 911,536 9,546,904 134,943 10,593,383
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12 Intangible Assets 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Development costs

Cost 34,964,036 31,927,414

Grants (b) (10,355,187) (10,355,187)

Impairment and disposal (5,537,703) (5,537,703)

Accumulated amortisation (6,064,454) (3,913,525)

Total development costs 13,006,692 12,120,999

Computer software

Cost 334,209 380,203

Disposal - (74,654)

Accumulated amortisation (288,576) (257,834)

Total computer software 45,633 47,715

Total Intangibles 13,052,325 12,168,714

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of intangibles  

Consolidated

Development
costs

AUD$

Computer
software

AUD$

Total

AUD$

Year ended 31 December 2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 12,120,999 47,715 12,168,714

Additions 1,102,899 23,959 1,126,858

Amortisation (998,685) (30,741) (1,029,426)

Foreign exchange movements 781,479 4,700 786,179

Closing value at 31 December 2018 13,006,692 45,633 13,052,325

Year ended 31 December 2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 18,514,786 110,046 18,624,832

Additions 1,274,855 - 1,274,855

Amortization (1,387,967) (24,032) (1,411,999)

Impairment and disposal (5,537,704) (38,299) (5,576,003)

Foreign exchange movements 176,862 - 176,862

Grants receivable (919,833) - (919,833)

Closing value at 31 December 2017 12,120,999 47,715 12,168,714
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12 Intangible Assets 

(b) Government grants  

During the year ended December 31, 2018 the Group recorded a receivable related to Government Grants for
tax incentives totalling $Nil (December 31, 2017: $1,597,891) which is included in Note 9 in Other Receivables,
with $521,952 (December 31, 2017: $919,833) offsetting development costs and $201,830 (December 31, 2017:
$678,058) included in Other Income.

13 Trade and other payables 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT
Trade payables 3,816,566 3,143,515

Accrued expenses 1,711,113 3,066,440

Unearned income - 1,689,394

Other payables 446,407 251,261

Total current trade and other payables 5,974,086 8,150,610

NON-CURRENT
Deferred lease incentive 62,319 480,872

Total non-current trade and other payables 62,319 480,872

All the carrying values are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

(a) Risk exposure  

Information about the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in note 20. 
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14 Borrowings 

Note

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT

Secured liabilities:
Lease liability 19 9,718 9,990

Total current borrowings 9,718 9,990

NON-CURRENT

Secured liabilities:
Loan facility 46,962,442 29,693,494

2013 Parnell Bonds - 3,119,187

46,962,442 32,812,681
Less: borrowing costs attributable to loan facility (1,929,636) (637,889)

Total non-current borrowings 45,032,806 32,174,792

As at December 31, 2018, the Company had borrowings related to a term-loan of $46,962,442 (December 31, 2017:
$29,693,494) and the 2013 Parnell Bonds of $Nil (December 31, 2017: $3,119,187). The Company had lease liabilities

that are secured by the related leased assets of $9,718 (December 31, 2017: $9,990). 

Loan Facility

2018 Term Loan Facility

In July of 2018, the Group entered into a credit arrangement with U.S. based lenders, Marathon Healthcare Finance
Fund, L.P. and Wilmington Trust, National Association (as the Agent) for a USD $32,000,000 senior security facility.
The credit facility was utilized to pay off our previous senior debt facility with SWK Holdings LLC, which was due to
mature in 2020, as well as the Group’s 2013 Parnell Bonds.  Following the payment of fees and associated costs of
establishing this new credit facility of approximately USD $1,256,701, USD$2,153,570 of funds were immediately
available for working and growth capital.  The credit facility contained two financial covenants requiring the Company to
maintain a ratio of Employee Priority Liabilities not to excel 70% of the book value of inventory, and for the EBITDA for
the most recent four Fiscal Quarters be greater than the minimum set forth in a schedule within the newly formed credit
agreement. At December 31, 2018 the Group was in compliance with these covenants and expects to remain in
compliance with these for 12 months from the date of signing if the financial statements.
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2013 Parnell Bonds 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT
Face value of bonds 4,300,000 4,300,000

Bond redemptions (4,300,000) (1,455,000)

Interest expense - current year** 457,697 288,691

Interest expense - brought forward 274,188 274,188

Interest paid (731,885) (288,692)

- 3,119,187

The 2013 Parnell Bonds were repaid in 2018 with funds from the term loan facility.  As of 31, December 2018 there are
no bonds outstanding.

 ** Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 10% for the 2013 Parnell bonds.

15 Provision for Employee Benefits 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

CURRENT 

Annual leave 631,548 443,119

Long service leave 149,422 134,721

Total current employee benefits 780,970 577,840

NON-CURRENT

Long service leave 152,127 126,924
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16 Ordinary shares 
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Ordinary Class shares 63,515,902 63,521,533

      Total 63,515,902 63,521,533

Movements in ordinary share capital

Date Details No of
shares

Issue price
AUD$ AUD$

31/12/16 Balance 18,145,760 63,522,251
31/3/17 Adjustment to equity issue costs 6,436
30/6/17
31/8/17

Cancellation of Employee share issuance
Employee share issuance

(108,405)
667 -

30/9/17 Employee share issuance 300 -
30/9/17 Shares bought back (10,288) (7,154)
31/12/17 Balance 18,028,034 63,521,533
31/10/18 Return of shares (4,420) (5,631)
31/12/2018 Balance 18,023,814 63,515,902

On June 18, 2014, the Company completed an initial public offering of 5,000,000 shares on the NASDAQ Global Market
at a share price of USD$10.00 (AUD$10.61) per share resulting in proceeds of AUD$53,067,289.  The proceeds were
partially offset by commissions and issuance costs of AUD$5,724,638 for net proceeds of AUD$47,363,267.

On May 17, 2016, the Company completed a secondary public offering of 2,550,000 shares on the NASDAQ at a share
price of USD$1.65 per share resulting in gross proceeds of USD$4,207,500. The proceeds were partially offset by
commissions and issuance costs of USD$252,450 for net proceeds of USD$3,955,050.

On June 8, 2016, the underwriters of the secondary public offering elected to take-up 380,500 overallotment shares on
the NASDAQ at a share price of USD$1.65 per share resulting in gross proceeds of USD$627,825. The proceeds were
partially offset by commissions and issuance costs of USD$37,669 for net proceeds of USD$590,156.

There were no other movements in other classes of ordinary shares in 2015, 2014 and 2013, other than those
previously discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Ordinary shares of the Company have no par value.

(a) Net earnings/(loss) per share  

Basic and diluted net loss per share calculated for the Group have been disclosed in the Statements of
Comprehensive Loss.

A reconciliation of the net loss used in calculating net loss per share is included below:

12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Basic and diluted net loss per share

Net Profit/(Loss) for the year 129,620 (23,128,387)
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16 Ordinary shares 

(a) Net earnings/(loss) per share  

A calculation of the weighted average number of shares used for the denominator is included below:

12 months to 31
December 2018

12 months to 31
December 2017

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the basic and diluted net loss per share
calculation 18,027,295 18,143,430

(b) Capital Management  
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Total Liabilities 52,012,026 41,521,027

Total Equity (18,527,614) (11,316,859)

Debt-to-Equity Ratio (2.81) (3.67)

17 Reserves 
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance (28,327) (3,942,161)

Currency translation differences arising during the period (6,994,009) 3,913,834

(7,022,336) (28,327)

Share-based compensation reserve
Opening balance 3,592,250 3,757,536

Share-based compensation expense (340,735) (165,286)

3,251,515 3,592,250

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve  

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in other
comprehensive income - foreign currency translation reserve. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or
loss when the net investment is disposed of.
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18 Accumulated Losses 
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial
period (78,402,315) (55,273,928)

Profit/(loss) for the period 129,620 (23,128,387)

Accumulated losses at end of the financial period (78,272,695) (78,402,315)

19 Capital and Leasing Commitments 

(a) Operating Leases  
31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases:

- not later than one year 975,570 1,054,620

- between one year and five years 3,445,911 1,626,665

- later than five years 3,831,930 -

8,253,411 2,681,285

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and equipment under non cancellable operating leases expiring
within 6 months to 3 years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal,
the terms of these leases are renegotiated.  In March of 2018 the Group finalized a contract with its US office
landlord to reduce the size of the leased office space (starting May 31) to eliminate unnecessary space under
lease.  This substantially reduced the future rent expense for the US office, with annualized payments reducing
from $450,585 to $85,140.  In addition, this transaction reduced the lease term remaining by five years.

In July of 2018 the Group signed an extension to the lease for the Manufacturing facility in Sydney.  This lease
terminates in June 2028, with renewal options though 2050.
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20 Financial Risk Management 

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

This note discloses the Group‘s objectives, policies and processes for managing and measuring these risks.

The Group‘s overall risk management plan seeks to minimize potential adverse effects due to the unpredictability of
financial markets.

The Group does not speculate in financial instruments.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below:

Specific risks

 Market risk - currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk 
 Credit risk 
 Liquidity risk

Financial instruments used

The principal categories of financial instrument used by the Group are:

 Trade receivables
 Cash at bank
 Trade and other payables
 Loan facility
 2013 Parnell bonds
 Finance leases

Objectives, policies and processes  

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Risk Management Committee under the delegated power from the
Board of Directors. The Finance Manager has primary responsibility for the development of relevant policies and
procedures to mitigate the risk exposure of the Group, these policies and procedures are then approved by the risk
management committee and tabled at the board meeting following their approval.

Reports are presented at each Board meeting regarding the implementation of these policies and any risk exposure
which the Risk Management Committee believes the Board should be aware of.

Specific information regarding the mitigation of each financial risk to which Group is exposed is provided below.

Credit risk  

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of
contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group and arises principally from the Group's receivables.

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms undergo a credit assessment process which
takes into account the customer’s financial position, past experience and other factors. Credit limits are then set based
on ratings in accordance with the limits set by the Board of Directors, these limits are reviewed on a regular basis.
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20 Financial Risk Management 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital and the finance charges and principal repayments
on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall
due.

The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become
due. The Group maintains cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods.
Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and
the ability to sell long-term financial assets.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term
financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day business. 

Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of
a rolling 30-day projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 180-day and a 360-day period are identified monthly.
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20 Financial Risk Management 

Liquidity risk  

At the reporting date, these reports indicate that the Group expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances.

The Group‘s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarized below:

Not later than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Borrowings and warrants
(excluding finance leases) - - - - - - - 32,822,681

Trade payables 3,816,566 3,143,515 - - - - - -
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Market risk  

(i) Foreign currency sensitivity

Most of the Group's transactions are carried out in Australian Dollars. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from
the Group's overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily denominated in US dollars, Canadian dollars and New
Zealand dollars. 

To mitigate the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Australian Dollar cash flows are monitored in accordance
with Group‘s risk management policies.

In order to monitor the effectiveness of this policy, the Board receives a monthly report showing the settlement date of
transactions denominated in non-Australian Dollar currencies and expected cash reserves in that currency.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into Australian Dollars at the closing rate, are
as follows:

Consolidated

31 December 2018

USD

$

CAD

$

CHF

$

GBP

$

NZD

$

Trade receivables 1,205,329 - - - 32,851

Borrowing cost asset 1,929,636 - - - -

Trade payables (2,140,635) (55) - - -

Loan facility (46,962,442) - - - -

31 December 2017
Trade receivables 723,931 - - - 1,355

Borrowing cost asset 637,889 - - - -

Trade payables (2,126,507) (256) - - (20,926)

Loan facility (29,693,494) - - - -

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the period and equity in regards to the Group‘s financial
assets and financial liabilities and the US Dollar, Canadian Dollar and New Zealand Dollar to the Australian dollar
exchange rate.  There have been no changes in the assumptions calculating this sensitivity from prior periods.

It assumes a +/- 10% change of the Australian Dollar/foreign currency exchange rate for the period ended 31 December
2018 (31 December 2017: 10%). This percentages has been determined based on the average market volatility in
exchange rates in the previous 12 months. 

The sensitivity analysis is based on the foreign currency financial instruments held at the reporting date.
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If the Australian dollar had strengthened and weakened against the following currencies by -% (31 December 2017:
10%) then this would have had the following impact:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

+10% -10% +10% -10%

USD
Net results/equity impact 4,178,919 (4,569,881) 1,733,421 (1,575,837)

CAD
Net results/equity impact 5 (5) (24) 22

NZD
Net results/equity impact (2,986) 3,285 (2,528) 2,298

GBP

CHF

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of overseas transactions.
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk.

(ii) Cash flow interest rate sensitivity

The 2016 Term Loan facility and 2013 Parnell Bonds are fixed rate facilities; as such there is no interest sensitivity on
these facilities.

Credit risk   

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposure to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding receivables and
committed transactions.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults. The utilization of credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by line management.
Customers who subsequently fail to meet their credit terms are required to make purchases on a prepayment basis until
creditworthiness can be re-established.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The five largest trade receivables balance total $1,156,160 as at December 31, 2018.

The Board receives monthly reports summarising the turnover, trade receivables balance and aging profile of each of
the key customers individually and the Group's other customers analyzed by industry sector as well as a list of
customers currently transacting on a prepayment basis or who have balances in excess of their credit limits. Refer to
Note 7.
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Credit risk   

Management considers that all the financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review
are of good credit quality, including those that are past due. 

The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is considered negligible, since the counterparties
are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

Credit quality

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Cash at bank
AA- 808,967 1,156,981

A- 3,591,680 1,221,969

4,400,647 2,378,950
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Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be compared to
their carrying values as presented in the consolidated balance sheet. Fair values are those amounts at which an asset
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, where changes in
assumptions may have a material impact on the amounts estimated. Areas of judgment and the assumptions have
been detailed below. Where possible, valuation information used to calculate fair value is extracted from the market,
with more reliable information available from markets that are actively traded. In this regard, fair values for listed
securities are obtained from quoted market bid prices. Where securities are unlisted and no market quotes are
available, fair value is obtained using discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by
market participants.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Net Carrying
Value

AUD$

Net Fair value

AUD$

Net Carrying
Value

AUD$

Net Fair value

AUD$

Financial liabilities
Long term loan 46,962,442 53,184,966 29,693,484 29,500,262

2013 Parnell bonds - - 3,119,187 3,280,949

46,962,442 53,184,966 32,812,671 32,781,211

21 Change in Accounting Policy 

During the year AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 9 Financial Instruments were adopted.
Neither of these standards required any balance or disclosures to be restated as a result of their implementation. Refer
to note 2(h) and 2(n) for the updated accounting policies which have been adopted.

22 Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

Key management personnel remuneration included within employee expenses for the year is shown below:
12 months to 31
December 2018

AUD$

12 months to 31
December 2017

AUD$

Short-term employee benefits 986,449 1,493,641

Long-term benefits 6,824 47,817

Share-based payments 30,698 442,803

1,023,971 1,984,261

For the purposes of this note, Key Management Personnel has been assessed as being the Board of Directors, which
includes the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.
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Other key management personnel transactions  

For details of other transactions with key management personnel, refer to Note 26: Related Party Transactions.

23 Remuneration of Auditors 
12 months to
31 December

2018

AUD$

12 months to
31 December

2017

AUD$

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia, for:

- auditing or reviewing the financial report 209,500 195,000

- taxation services 12,500 22,000

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 222,000 217,000

24 Interests in Subsidiaries 

The parent entity within the Group is Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited, which changed its name from Parnell
Pharmaceuticals Holdings Pty Limited on June 6, 2014 upon becoming a public entity. There is no ultimate parent entity
above the Group.

(a) Composition of the Group  
Principal place of
business / Country of
Incorporation

Percentage
Owned (%)*

31 December
2018

Percentage
Owned (%)*

31 December
2017

Subsidiaries:
Parnell Technologies Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Pharmaceuticals Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Laboratories (Aust) Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell, Inc. United States of America 100 100

Parnell Technologies NZ Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Technologies (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 100

Australian Pharma Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Manufacturing Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Corporate Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Australia Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell North America Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Europe Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell NZ Co Limited New Zealand 100 100

Parnell Group Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Parnell Corporate Services U.S., Inc. United States of America 100 100

Parnell U.S. 1, Inc. United States of America 100 100

Veterinary Investigative Services, Inc. United States of America 100 100
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(a) Composition of the Group  

*The percentage of ownership interest held is equivalent to the percentage voting rights for all subsidiaries.

25 Contingencies 

In the opinion of management, the Group did not have any material contingencies at December 31, 2018 (December
31, 2017: None).

67



Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd

ABN 32 137 904 413

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Period Ended 31 December 2018

26 Related Parties 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Transaction with related parties:
12 months to
31 December

2018

AUD$

12 months to
31 December

2017

AUD$

Contributions to superannuation funds on behalf of employees 418,401 312,595

Rental and outgoings amounts paid to a Company controlled by a director 784,567 628,682

Interest paid/payable to associated connected to related parties for the 2013
Parnell Bonds 144,471 156,442

Consultancy fees paid to a director 12,387 176,619

In 2018 the Parnell bonds were repaid in full.  As of 31 December 2018, $Nil of 2013 Parnell Bonds to associates were
outstanding (31 December 2017, $2,886,923). 

The Company did not issue any Restricted Stock Units during the year ended 2018, 2017(Nil), 2016 (13,386).
Additionally the Company did not issue any stock options during the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 (Nil), 2016
(31,949). 

Related Parties  

The Group's main related parties are as follows:

(i) Key management personnel:

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity,
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity are considered key
management personnel.

For the purposes of this note, Key Management Personnel has been assessed as being the Board of Directors.

For details of remuneration disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 22: Interests of Key
Management Personnel (KMP).

Other transactions with KMP and their related entities are shown below.

(ii) Subsidiaries:

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd and
those entities disclosed in note 24.
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Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities  

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
12 months to
31 December

2018

AUD$

12 months to
31 December

2017

AUD$

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members 129,620 (23,128,387)

Cash flows excluded 

 - Non-cash interest income (57,512) (679,485)

 - Non cash interest expense 4,234,583 4,809,489

 - Bad debts expense - (1,420)

Non-cash flows in profit:

 - depreciation and amortization 2,653,028 7,956,755

 - Stock compensation expense 203,596 303,303

 - Other operating expenses 828,160 987,471

 - net exchange differences (4,761,423) 3,149,322

Changes in assets and liabilities:

 - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 845,242 4,419,338

 - (increase)/decrease in inventories (936,380) 1,362,302

 - (increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset 201,830 -

 - (increase)/decrease in other assets (1,413,276) (860,615)

 - increase/(decrease) in capitalized debt interest (731,885) (288,692)

 - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (1,124,984) (1,568,824)

 - increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue (1,689,394) 1,689,394

Net cash used in operating activities (1,618,795) (1,850,049)

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities  

Non-cash changes

2017

$

Cash flows

$

Foreign
exchange
movement

$

Fair value
changes

$

Other non-
cash

movement

$

2018

$

Long term borrowings 29,693,494 10,431,689 3,121,645 - 3,715,614 46,962,442

2013 Parnell Bonds 3,119,188 (2,556,308) (562,880) - - -

Lease liabilities 9,990 (24,018) - - 23,746 9,718

Total liabilities from
financing activities 32,822,672 7,851,363 2,558,765 - 3,739,360 46,972,160
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(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
Non-cash changes

2016

$

Cash flows

$

Foreign
exchange
movement

$

Fair value
changes

$

Other non-
cash

movement

$

2017

$

Long term borrowings 27,639,580 - (1,998,554) - 4,052,468 29,693,494

2013 Parnell bonds 3,119,188 - - - - 3,119,188

Lease liabilities 10,178 (23,412) - - 23,224 9,990

Total liabilities from
financing activities 30,768,946 (23,412) (1,998,554) - 4,075,692 32,822,672

(b) Net debt   
2018

$

2017

$

Cash and cash equivalents 4,400,647 2,378,950

Borrowings-repayable after one year (46,962,442) (32,812,681)

Net Debt (42,561,795) (30,433,731)

Cash and liquid investments 4,400,647 2,378,950

Gross fixed debt (46,962,442) (32,812,681)

Net debt (42,561,795) (30,433,731)

28 Share-based Payments 

The Company established the 2014 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2014 Plan") in June 2014 to allow for the
issuance of up to 1,500,000 shares to officers and employees, and other individuals, including non-employee directors.
The Company amended the Plan in May 2015 increasing the available shares for issuance to 3,000,000 shares. The
Company may issue share options, share awards, share units, performance shares, performance units, and other
share-based awards to eligible individuals. The 2014 Plan is administered by the Company's board of directors. All
awards are evidenced by a written agreement between the Company and the holder of the award. The board of
directors has the authority to construe or interpret the terms of the 2014 Plan and awards granted under the 2014 Plan.
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Pursuant to the 2014 Plan the board of directors approved the initial issuance of stock option and restricted stock units
during the year ended December 31, 2017.

The fair value of each share option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
Company historically has been a private company and lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility
information. Therefore, it estimates its expected share volatility based on the historical volatility of its publicly traded
peer companies and expects to do so until such time as it has adequate historical data regarding the volatility of its own
traded share price. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the appropriate reserve bank yield in effect
at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. The expected
term is determined based on the life of the grant of 10 years. Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the
Company has never paid cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
fair value of the underlying ordinary shares is determined by the closing price of our ordinary shares on the OTC Pink®
Open Market. The fair value of the share options was estimated using the following assumptions:

12 months ended
December 31, 2018

12 months ended
December 31, 2017

Share price at grant date
per ordinary share N/A N/A

Risk free interest rate N/A N/A

Expected term (in years) N/A N/A

Expected volatility N/A N/A

Expected dividend yield zero zero

If any assumptions used in the option-pricing model changed significantly, share-based compensation for future awards
may differ materially from the awards granted previously.

The following table summarizes share option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Shares
Issuable

Under
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in
years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 49,931 4.44 1 -

Granted - -  -

Exercised - - - -

Expired or forfeited - - - -

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 49,931 4.44 1 -

Options vested and expected to vest, as
of December 31, 2018 49,931 4.44

The aggregate intrinsic value of share options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the share
options and the fair value of the Company's ordinary shares for those share options that had exercise prices lower than
the fair value of the Company's ordinary shares.

There were no options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Company
did not receive cash proceeds from stock option exercises for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017.
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In addition to the stock options described above, the Company has granted service-based RSU's to its employees.
RSU's are valued at the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares as of the date of the grant. The following table
summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Number of
Restricted

Share
Units

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in
years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 646,021 1.05 0.16 -

Granted - - - -

Exercised - - - -

Expired or forfeited (277,642) - - -

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 368,379 1.05 -

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, share-based compensation expense/(recovery) was
($31) thousand and ($217) thousand.
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The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent, Parnell Pharmaceuticals
Holdings Ltd and has been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards.

The financial information for the parent entity, Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd has been prepared on the same
basis as the consolidated financial statements except as disclosed below.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent entity. Dividends received
from associates are recognised in the parent entity profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount
of these investments.

Tax consolidation legislation

Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax
consolidated group.

Each entity in the tax consolidated group accounts for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts
are measured using the ‘stand-alone taxpayer’ approach to allocation.

Current tax liabilities (assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries
are immediately transferred to the parent entity.

The tax consolidated group has entered into a tax funding agreement whereby each entity within the group contributes
to the income tax payable by the Group in proportion to their contribution to the Group’s taxable income. Differences
between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised and the net amounts recognised pursuant to the
funding agreement are recognised as either a contribution by, or distribution to the head entity.

The individual financial statements for the parent entity, Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Ltd, show the following
aggregate amounts:

31 December
2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Balance sheet
Assets

Current assets 39,318,276 41,700,232

Non-current assets 6,792,637 6,497,901

Total Assets 46,110,913 48,198,133

Liabilities

Current liabilities 6,492,500 5,673,581

Non-current liabilities 1,314,218 4,433,405

Total Liabilities 7,806,718 10,106,986

Equity

Issued capital 63,521,533 63,521,533

Accumulated losses (29,052,980) (29,608,964)

Reserves 3,835,642 4,178,578

Total Equity 38,304,195 38,091,147
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31 December

2018

AUD$

31 December
2017

AUD$

Statement of comprehensive loss
Total (loss)/profit for the year 213,048 (6,988,194)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 213,048 (6,988,194)

30 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

Due to a delay in the delivery of previously purchase ordered contract manufacturing business from Quarter 1, 2019 to
Quarter 2, 2019 the Group took out a Shareholder loan of $700,000. In agreement with the Senior Lenders, Marathon,
the loan will be repaid only if and to the extent; 
(a) the combined EBITDA of the Group (calculated in accordance with the Senior Loan) under the Senior Loan

(and reported by you to the Lender) for the four quarters immediately preceding the demand is more than AUD
8 million; and

(b) the payment if made by the group will not reduce the amount of cash in the Debt Service Reserve Account (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) to less than USD 2,500,000 at any time; and

(c) there is no Event of Default under the Senior Loan at the time of the payment, nor would such an Event of
Default result if that payment were made by the group.

No additional matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or
could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group
in future financial years.

31 Company Details 

The registered office and principal place of business of the company in Australia is:

Parnell Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited
Unit 4 Century Estate
476 Gardeners Road
Alexandria NSW 2015

The principal place of business of the company in the United States is:

7015 College Blvd
600 Overland Park KS 66211
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The directors of the Group declare that: 
 
1.  the financial statements and notes for the year ended 31 December 2018 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001 and: 

a. comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 2 to the financial statements, 
constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and 

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated group; 

 
2.  In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

Director .................................................................. 
Brad McCarthy (Chief Executive Officer) 

 

Director .................................................................. 
Alan Bell (Executive Chairman) 

 
 
Dated:  28 March 2019  
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